Preparing Speech–Language Pathologists for Early Intervention: An Exploration of Practice–Based Interprofessional Education

by

Emily R. Moore

A thesis submitted to the faculty of Radford University
in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of
Master of Arts in the Department of Communication Sciences and Disorders

Thesis Advisor: Dr. Corey H. Cassidy

May 2024

© 2024, Emily R. Moore

CoceyACassidy	4/26/2024
Dr. Corey H. Cassidy	Date
Committee Chair	
Ms. Rebecca D. Esperty	4/24/2024
Ms. Rebecca D. Esperty ()	Date
Committee Member	
Michell Jacket	4/24/2024
Dr. Michelle H. Lenhart	Date
Committee Wember	
	4/26/24
Dy. Kerry F. Vandergrift	Daté
Committee Member	

Abstract

Providing high—quality early intervention (EI) services to young children with disabilities requires a dedicated team of collaborative practice-ready professionals. Yet, speechlanguage pathologists (SLPs) report feeling unprepared to collaborate in EI. Recent research on IPE at the pre-service level for SLPs is limited and consists primarily of case-based learning activities focused on building collaborative knowledge and skills. However, the mechanisms that foster willingness to collaborate in future practice settings are not well understood. The emerging concept of interprofessional socialization (IPS) captures this transformative learning process. This mixed methods case study employed a pre-post design to investigate the IPS process in pre–service SLPs (n = 3) who engaged in an innovative practice-based IPE program through a university-community partnership. During the program, participants collaborated with in-service early care providers at a licensed child day center to provide developmental services. Results were that participants began the IPS process and enhanced their perception of collaborative competence after the program. Challenges to the IPS process included limited time and space as well as professional misconceptions. Further research is needed to better understand the IPS process during practice—based IPE in pre-service SLPs as well as the factors underlying successful collaboration across service levels in the early childcare setting.

Keywords: Collaborative competence, collaborative practice, early care provider, early intervention, practice—based interprofessional education, interprofessional socialization, speech—language pathologist

Emily R. Moore, M.A.
Department of Communication Sciences and Disorders, 2024
Radford University

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my thesis committee for their steadfast support and ongoing mentorship. I appreciate the SMART Lab for their support in coordinating the focus group and the Office of Undergraduate Research and Scholarship for poster printing, which enabled me to share portions of this work at the 2024 Speech—Language—Hearing Association of Virginia conference. I am grateful to the participants for offering their time and valuable insights.

To the Class of 2024, I could not imagine a more spectacular group to have had the honor of being a part. Thank you for your friendship, laughter, and commitment to moving our field forward. Thank you to my loved ones who inspired me, especially my beautiful grandmother who cheered me on from afar in a place where the hummingbirds shimmer and the wind is always gentle.

And to a little daydreamer from long ago: You have a good brain, I promise ♥

Table of Contents

List of Tables	7
List of Abbreviations	8
Glossary	9
Chapter 1. Background	12
Defining Early Intervention	12
Role of Speech–Language Pathologists in Early Intervention	12
Role of Early Care Providers in Early Intervention	13
Role of Collaboration in Early Intervention Provider Training	13
Defining Interprofessional Education	14
Core Collaborative Competencies	14
Interprofessional Education Formats	16
Chapter 2. Conceptual Framework	18
The Theory–Practice Gap in Early Intervention	18
Defining Interprofessional Socialization	18
Theoretical Basis of the Interprofessional Socialization Process	19
Challenge to the Interprofessional Socialization Framework	21
Defining Practice–Based Interprofessional Education	22
Conceptual Basis for Practice–Based Interprofessional Education	22
Study Rationale	23
Chapter 3. Literature Review	24
Introduction	24
Potential Benefits of Interprofessional Education	24
For Pre–Service Speech–Language Pathologists	24
For Families	25

Potential Limitations of Non–Practice–Based Interprofessional Education	25
Potential Benefits of Practice–Based Interprofessional Education	26
Collaboration at the Pre–Service Level	27
Collaboration Across Service Levels	27
Barriers to Collaboration in the Early Childcare Setting	28
Environmental Barriers	28
Attitudinal Barriers	28
Methodologies Used to Evaluate Interprofessional Education Programs	29
Heterogeneity	29
Quality	31
Summary	31
Chapter 4. Methods	32
Participants	32
Program Description	32
Measures	34
Quantitative Measures	34
Qualitative Measures	34
Procedures	35
Participant Selection	35
Data Collection	35
Data Analysis	35
Chapter 5. Results	
Quantitative	
Interprofessional Socialization and Valuing Scale–21	
Interprofessional Collaborative Competency Attainment Survey	

Qualitative	45
Theme 1: Increasing Preparedness for Collaboration in Early Intervention	47
Theme 2: Collaborating to Benefit the Child	47
Theme 3: Collaboration as Multifactorial	48
Theme 4: Suggestions for Program Improvement	50
Chapter 6. Discussion	51
Interprofessional Socialization	51
Idealistic Expectations	51
Unmet Antecedents	52
Collaborative Competence	53
Limitations and Future Research	54
Conclusions	55
Pafarancas	56

List of Tables

Table 1 – Core Competencies for Interprofessional Collaborative Practice	15
Table 2 – Types of Interprofessional Education Formats	17
Table 3 – Interprofessional Socialization Framework	20
Table 4 – Scales Used to Evaluate Interprofessional Education Programs	30
Table 5 – ISVS–21 Total Scores	38
Table 6 – ISVS–21 Median Scores	40
Table 7 – ISVS–21 Median Scores by Item	42
Table 8 – ICCAS Median Scores	44
Table 9 – Description of Main Themes	46

List of Abbreviations

Term	Definition
ASHA	American Speech–Language–Hearing Association
ECSE	Early Childhood Special Education/Educator
ECP	Early Care Provider
EI	Early Intervention/Interventionist
ICCAS	Interprofessional Collaborative Competency Attainment Survey
IFSP	Individualized Family Service Plan
IDEA	Individuals with Disabilities Education Act
IPE	Interprofessional Education
IPEC	Interprofessional Education Collaborative
IPS	Interprofessional Socialization
ISVS	Interprofessional Socialization and Valuing Scale
OT	Occupational Therapy/Therapist
PT	Physical Therapy/Therapist
SLP	Speech-Language Pathology/Pathologist
PSP	Pre-service Professional
DBHDS	Virginia Department of Behavioral Health and Developmental Services

Glossary

Term	Definition		
Caregiver (or caretaker)	Someone who is responsible for taking care of another person, for example, a person who has a disability, or is sick or very young (Collins English Dictionary, n.d.).		
Child day center	A day program offered to (i) two or more children younger than 13 years of age in a facility that is not the residence of the provider or of any of the children in care or (ii) 13 or more children at any location (8VAC20–780–10).		
Collaborative practice	When multiple health workers from different practice professional backgrounds work together with patients, families, caregivers or caretaker, and communities to deliver the highest quality of care across settings (IPEC, 2023, p. 32).		
Competence	The state of proficiency of a person to perform the required practice activities to the defined standard. This incorporates having the requisite competencies to do this in a given context. Competence is multidimensional and dynamic. It changes with time, experience, and setting (IPEC, 2023, p. 32).		
Competency (or competencies)	The abilities of a person to integrate knowledge, skills, and attitudes in their performance of tasks in a given context. Competencies are durable, trainable, and, through the expression of behaviors, measurable (IPEC, 2023, p. 32).		
Developmental services	The design of learning environments and activities that promote the child's acquisition of skills in a variety of developmental areas, including cognitive processes and social interaction; curriculum planning, including planned interaction of personnel, materials, and time and space that leads to achieving outcomes in the IFSP; providing families with information, skills, and support related to enhancing the skill development of the child; and working with the child with a disability to enhance the child's development (Infant & Toddler Connection of Virginia – Practice Manual, Glossary, p. 2).		
Early care provider	Adults who provide care to young children outside of the home in center–based or home–based programs, Early Head Start or Head Start programs, private or public preschools (Sheppard & Moran, 2021, p. 2).		

Early intervention services	Services provided through Part C designed to meet the developmental needs of children and families and to enhance the development of children from birth to age three years who have (i) a 25% developmental delay in one or more areas of development, (ii) atypical development, or (iii) a diagnosed physical or mental condition that has a high probability of resulting in a developmental delay (Infant & Toddler Connection of Virginia – Practice Manual, Glossary, p. 3).
Individualized family service plan	A written plan for providing early intervention services to an infant or toddler with a disability (IDEA, 2004).
Interprofessional	Occurring between or involving two or more different professions or professionals (Merriam–Webster, n.d.).
Interprofessional education	Occurs when students from two or more professions learn about, from, and with each other to enable effective collaboration and improve health outcomes (WHO, 2010, p. 10).
Interprofessional identity	The development of a robust cognitive, psychological, and emotional sense of belonging to an interprofessional community(s), necessary to achieve shared context—dependent goals (Tong et al., 2020a, p. 6).
Interprofessional socialization	An iterative process in which members from different professions come together to learn about and value each other's perspectives and contributions, while dispelling misconceptions and prejudices, continuously working toward formation of a dual identity: one for professional identity and one for interprofessional identity (Dolan & Nowell, 2023, p. 10).
Learner	A person who is trying to gain knowledge or skill in something by studying, practicing, or being taught (IPEC, 2023, p. 35).
Natural environment(s)	Settings that are natural or typical for a same–aged child without a disability and may include the home or community settings (Infant & Toddler Connection of Virginia – Practice Manual, Glossary, p. 5).
Pre-service professional	Refers to a learner prior to graduating and obtaining full professional certification in their discipline.
Socialization	Refers to the values and beliefs that underlie a discipline or profession (King et al., 2016, p. 171).
Program evaluation	The application of social research methods to systematically investigate the effectiveness of social intervention to improve social conditions (Rossi et al., 2019, p. 6).

Speech-language pathologist	The professional who engages in professional practice in the areas of communication and swallowing across the life span. <i>Communication</i> and <i>swallowing</i> are broad terms encompassing many facets of function. <i>Communication</i> includes speech production and fluency, language, cognition, voice, resonance, and hearing. <i>Swallowing</i> includes all aspects of swallowing, including related feeding behaviors (ASHA, 2016b).
Student	Learner (IPEC, 2023, p. 11).
Team-based interprofessional practice placement	A dedicated and prearranged opportunity for a number of participants from health, social care, and related professions to learn together for a period of time in the same setting as they perform typical activities of their profession as a team focused on a client–centered approach (Brewer & Barr, 2016, p. 747).

Chapter 1. Background

Defining Early Intervention

Governed by Part C of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), early intervention (EI) services refer to developmental supports for infants and toddlers birth to 2 years with disabilities and their families (IDEA, 2004). States may extend EI eligibility to 5 years; however, children 3 to 5 years typically receive early childhood special education (ECSE) services under IDEA (2004), Part B. For brevity, support services for young children with disabilities will at times be referred to as EI/ECSE services.

EI services are designed to meet identified needs in one or more of the following developmental areas: physical, cognitive, communication, social or emotional, and adaptive (IDEA, 2004). These services are provided in the child's natural environment (IDEA, 2004). For most families (92.7%) this is the home, but childcare centers, preschools, and other community–based settings may serve as the natural environment (IDEA, 2004; U. S. Department of Education, 2022; Weglarz–Ward et al., 2020a).

EI services are family–centered and must use a team–based approach (ASHA, n.d.; IDEA, 2004). In addition to being a federal mandate, using a team approach is considered best practice for supporting young children with disabilities (Bruder, 2010; Division of Early Childhood, 2014; Horn & Jones, 2004) because no one provider has the expertise to completely support this population (Lieberman–Betz et al., 2019). Therefore, high–quality EI services depend heavily on high–quality teaming practices between service providers, the family, and other support personnel in the child's natural environment.

Role of Speech-Language Pathologists in Early Intervention

In addition to the family, speech–language pathologists (SLPs) are germane to the EI process. SLPs are masters–level clinicians who practice in the areas of communication and swallowing (ASHA, 2016b). In EI, SLPs screen, evaluate, and treat young children with

delays and disabilities in these areas (ASHA, n.d.). Other roles and responsibilities include making eligibility determinations, writing Individualized Family Service Plans (IFSPs), and coordinating services (12VAC35–225–90; ASHA, n.d.). Speech–language pathology represents a plurality (33%) of clinically based EI services in Virginia with physical (23.9%) and occupational therapy (18.5%) being the second and third most common, respectively (DBHDS, 2021, p. 9).

Role of Early Care Providers in Early Intervention

General members of the early childcare workforce or early care providers (ECPs) assume various titles such as center director, lead teacher, or assistant teacher (Sheppard & Moran, 2021). Although ECP qualifications differ by state (Moran, 2021), licensed child day center personnel in Virginia must hold a high school diploma and possess a bachelor's degree in a child–related field or equivalent work experience (8VAC20–780–180 et seq.).

Given that many children with disabilities spend significant time in childcare settings, ECPs play an important role in supporting the EI population (Sheppard & Moran, 2021). ECPs may initiate the EI referral process by noticing and communicating developmental concerns to families (Sheppard & Moran, 2021). In addition to their role as a primary referral source (12VAC35–225–120), ECPs serve as valuable sources of information about how a child is functioning in the natural environment (Sheppard & Moran, 2021). This supports evaluation and assessment processes in EI. ECPs also carry over SLP services into daily routines in the childcare environment, which supports treatment (Sheppard & Moran, 2021).

Role of Collaboration in Early Intervention Provider Training

Since effective teaming is foundational to EI, training programs for EI providers must impart the knowledge and skills to collaborate across disciplines (Bricker et al., 2022; Crais et al., 2004; Prelock & Deppe, 2015). SLPs in particular are obligated by Principle IV of the code of ethics to maintain "collaborative and harmonious" interprofessional relationships

(ASHA, 2016a). Standard V–B of the Standards for the Certificate of Clinical Competence in Speech–Language Pathology requires that clinicians participate in supervised clinical experiences at the pre–service level to enhance capacity for collaborative practice (Council for Clinical Certification in Audiology and Speech–Language Pathology, 2018). Accordingly, the Council on Academic Accreditation in Audiology and Speech–Language Pathology (CAA) requires graduate programs to incorporate interprofessional education (IPE) opportunities into their curricula (CAA, 2023).

Defining Interprofessional Education

According to the World Health Organization (WHO), IPE "occurs when students from two or more professions learn about, from and with each other to enable effective collaboration and improve health outcomes" (WHO, 2010, p. 13). IPE facilitates a "collaborative practice—ready workforce" equipped with the knowledge and skills to engage in effective teaming practices (WHO, 2010, p. 10).

Core Collaborative Competencies

IPE programs aim to develop competency across four core domains (see **Table 1**). The Interprofessional Education Collaborative (IPEC) created these competencies to be broad enough to meet discipline–specific standards but narrow enough for educational institutions to meet their individual needs (IPEC, 2016, p. 3).

Table 1Core Competencies for Interprofessional Collaborative Practice

Competency	Definition	
Values and ethics	Work with team members to maintain a climate of shared values, ethical conduct, and mutual respect.	
Roles and responsibilities	Use the knowledge of one's own role and team members' expertise to address individual and population health outcomes.	
Communication	Communicate in a responsive, responsible, respectful, and compassionate manner with team members.	
Teams and teamwork	Apply values and principles of the science of teamwork to adapt one's own role in a variety of team settings.	

Note. Sourced from IPEC (2023, p. 15).

Although originally designed to prepare pre–service professionals (PSPs) in healthcare, the IPEC (2023) competencies have been adapted for training PSPs in early childhood and educational settings (Coufal & Woods, 2018; Ludwig & Kerins, 2019).

Interprofessional Education Formats

The IPE literature is vast and particularly heterogeneous in format (Reeves et al., 2016). Common IPE formats are listed in **Table 2** and include case–study discussions, lectures, workshops, or collaborative projects (Barr et al., 2005).

Table 2Types of Interprofessional Education Formats

Туре	Activities	
Action–Based	Collaborative inquiry, problem–based learning, case–based learning, joint projects or research.	
Exchange-Based	Debates, games, case studies, narrative—based learning, appreciative enquiry, workshop.	
Observation-Based	Joint visits, shadowing member(s) of another profession.	
Practice-Based	Work related assignments, joint placements, out—placement in another professional setting.	
Simulation-Based	Experiential groups, role playing activities, joint skills acquisition laboratories.	

Note. Sourced from Barr (1996, pp. 344–346) and Barr (2005 et al., pp. 98–102).

Chapter 2. Conceptual Framework

The Theory-Practice Gap in Early Intervention

SLP graduate program directors report that their institution adequately prepares students for EI (Caesar, 2022). Yet, SLPs employed in EI settings report feeling unprepared by their graduate programs for collaborative practice in EI (Caesar, 2022). Indeed, SLPs appear to learn their collaborative skills through first–hand experience and on–the–job training rather than through their graduate training (Wallace et al., 2022, p. 805). Even when training on effective teaming is provided, the majority of SLPs employed in educational settings feel that this training is "not enough" (Pfeiffer et al., 2019, p. 644) and express a desire for more training in this area (Heilmann & Bertone, 2021; Wallace et al., 2022). Therefore, investigation is warranted of methods to promote closure of this apparent theory–practice gap in EI provider training.

Defining Interprofessional Socialization

The goal of IPE is to facilitate collaborative practice such as team—based EI service provision. Yet, understanding of this learning process is severely limited due to over—reliance on outcomes—based measures to evaluate IPE programs (Reeves et al., 2016). In other words, IPE is known to promote collaborative knowledge and skills but the mechanisms that drive this learning process and the context for effective IPE delivery are less understood (Reeves et al., 2016). The emerging concept of interprofessional socialization (IPS) seeks to describe this transformative learning process. IPS is defined as:

[A]n iterative process in which members from different professions come together to learn about and value each other's perspectives and contributions, while dispelling misconceptions and prejudices, continuously working toward formation of a dual identity: one for professional identity and one for interprofessional identity. (Dolan & Nowell, 2023, p. 10)

Thus, IPE describes the learning environment and ideal outcomes while IPS refers to the learning process.

Theoretical Basis of the Interprofessional Socialization Process

Summarized in **Table 3**, Khalili et al. (2013) proposed a three–stage framework to describe the IPS process. In stage one, learners discuss professional misconceptions to diffuse potential professional identity threats and thus foster openness to collaboration (Khalili et al., 2013, p. 450). Stage two involves interprofessional role learning through team–based interactions that promote a sense of belonging to the interprofessional community (Khalili et al., 2013, p. 450). This facilitates the valuing of different professional perspectives, equity of roles, and, ultimately, increased readiness to collaborate in stage three (Khalili et al., 2013, p. 451). This iterative process culminates in formation of the dual professional and interprofessional identity (Khalili et al., 2013).

Table 3 *Interprofessional Socialization Framework*

Stage	Goal	Process	Outcome
I. Breaking down barriers	Reduce threats to professional identity	Discuss common misconceptions about professional roles	Improve readiness for interprofessional role learning
II. Interprofessional role learning	Increase capacity for shared decision making and power— sharing	Discuss shared roles and show mutual respect for professional roles	Enhance sense of belonging to the interprofessional team
III. Dual identity development	Internalize the dual identity	Reflective discussion of interprofessional partnership	Increase readiness to collaborate

Note. Adapted from Khalili & Orchard (2020, p. 2).

Khalili et al.'s (2013) framework relies on two theories from social psychology: social identity theory (SIT; Tajfel & Turner, 1986) and intergroup contact theory (ICT; Pettigrew, 1998). In the IPE context, SIT predicts that learners form a group professional identity as they are socialized into their discipline (Khalili et al., 2013; Tajfel & Turner, 1986). This fosters an in–group–out–group bias that may serve as a barrier to collaborative practice (Khalili et al., 2013). However, SIT predicts that modification of this identity may facilitate behavior changes, such those that promote collaborative practice (Khalili et al., 2013). ICT predicts that positive contact during IPE between in–groups and out–groups (i.e., groups of different professionals) could shift cognitive representation of the in–group to include members of the interprofessional team rather than only members of one's profession (Khalili et al., 2013; Pettigrew, 1998). There are four conditions that are necessary for this recategorization process to occur: perception of equal status within the situation, working towards common goals, intergroup cooperation (i.e., no competition between groups), and authority support (Pettigrew, 1998, p. 75).

Ideally, IPE programs that meet these conditions foster a safe learning environment within which PSPs recognize each other as valuable interprofessional team members, leading to collaborative practice and, therefore, more opportunities for positive interprofessional exposure that drives the IPS process (Dolan & Nowell, 2023). The interprofessional identity—"a robust cognitive, psychological and emotional sense of belonging to an interprofessional community(s), necessary to achieve shared context—dependent goals" (Tong et al., 2020a, p. 6)—forms in response to this iterative process over time (Khalili et al., 2013).

Tong et al. (2020a, p. 6) cautioned that conceptualizing the interprofessional identity primarily in terms of group membership does not account for the complex interplay of sociocultural variables impacting identity development. However, Khalili et al. (2020)

Challenge to the Interprofessional Socialization Framework

acknowledged that the IPS process is mediated by individual (e.g., previous IPE experience) and systemic factors (e.g., healthcare delivery models). Additionally, the IPS framework has only been explored in exchange— and action—based IPE programs (e.g., Khalili & Orchard, 2020). Given that the IPS literature is both novel and limited, more research is ultimately needed to crystalize understanding of the IPS process, particularly in the practice—based IPE context (Dolan & Nowell, 2023).

Defining Practice-Based Interprofessional Education

Definitions of practice—based IPE vary by author and institution (Thistlethwaite, 2013) but for present purposes may be conceptualized as a subset of IPE delivered during fieldwork placements (Barr & Brewer, 2012). The success of this format depends on factors such as the degree of university support, quality of clinical supervisors, and the degree to which PSPs understand other team members' professional roles (Barr & Brewer, 2012; Thistlethwaite, 2013).

The specific type of practice–based IPE under investigation is a team–based interprofessional practice placement, which (Brewer & Barr, 2016) is defined as:

A dedicated and prearranged opportunity for a number of participants from health, social care, and related professions to learn together for a period of time in the same setting as they perform typical activities of their profession as a team focused on a client–centered approach. (p. 747)

Conceptual Basis for Practice-Based Interprofessional Education

Unlike didactic training and case study discussions, practice—based IPE aims to close the theory—practice gap through experiential learning (Thistlethwaite, 2013). This form of learning involves the process of "connect[ing] knowing with doing" through interactions with others in the workplace (Gherardi, 2000, p. 218). According to Thistlethwaite (2013, p. 17), this is valuable because other IPE formats are merely proxies that do not fully capture the

complexity of real clinical practice settings. Additionally, coherence of educational and practice settings enhances student learning (Reeves et al., 2016). Therefore, practice—based IPE programs could provide an ideal context for the IPS process as potentially more authentic interprofessional learning opportunities (Thistlethwaite, 2013, p. 17).

Study Rationale

IPE is associated with positive gains in knowledge, skills, and attitudes among PSPs regarding collaborative practice (Reeves et al., 2016). Thus, IPE programs may contribute to closure of the theory–practice gap in EI by fostering the IPS process and building collaborative competence. However, the IPS process has yet to be documented between preservice SLPs and in–service ECPs during practice–based IPE in the EI context. This study addressed these gaps in the IPE literature through a formative and process–focused evaluation of an innovative practice–based IPE program delivered to SLP graduate students at Radford University. The present investigation will address the following primary and secondary research questions:

- 1) To what extent does a practice—based IPE program support the IPS process in pre—service SLPs?
- 2) What is the perceived impact of a practice—based IPE program on collaborative competence in pre–service SLPs?

Chapter 3. Literature Review

Introduction

IPE interventions are well documented for a variety of PSPs (Reeves et al., 2016), but understudied in SLPs (Goldberg, 2015), particularly in the context of early childhood education and care (McMillan et al., 2020). Given that collaborative practice is foundational to the EI process (IDEA, 2004), it is imperative that providers are equipped with the knowledge and skills to collaborate effectively with other professionals in the child's natural environment. However, the siloed model of PSP training limits opportunities to develop these skills (Sargeant, 2009), which broadly contributes to the theory–practice gap in EI/ECSE settings (McMillan et al., 2020; Prelock & Deppe, 2015). This informs calls to expand IPE opportunities specifically for pre–service SLPs to promote effective teaming as licensed clinicians (Dobbs–Oates & Wachter Morris, 2016; Goldberg, 2015; Prelock & Deppe, 2015). Unfortunately, IPE experiences dedicated to preparing SLPs for the EI workforce are exceedingly limited (Olszewski et al., 2019). Practice–based IPE interventions may support closure of the theory–practice gap in EI by fostering an ideal context for interprofessional socialization and collaborative competence development in pre–service SLPs.

Potential Benefits of Interprofessional Education

While both siloed and IPE training pedagogies can support collaborative competence, certain learning outcomes are more likely to be achieved during IPE activities (Thistlethwaite & Moran, 2010). In general, these include outcomes related to gaining knowledge and skills for collaboration, enhancing interprofessional communication, and increased understanding of professional roles and responsibilities (Thistlethwaite & Moran, 2010, p. 511).

For Pre-Service Speech-Language Pathologists

Evidence from interviews and self-report measures indicate that pre-service SLPs who participate in IPE activities demonstrate greater knowledge of and comfort with

transdisciplinary teaming (Suleman et al., 2014; Weiss et al., 2020) as well as improved collaborative competence across all four IPEC domains (e.g., Miolo & DeVore, 2016).

Namely, benefits of IPE for pre—service SLPs include improved awareness of one's own professional role and the roles and responsibilities of other professionals, improved perceived value of teamwork, and enhanced understanding of how collaborative practices benefit the patient (Curro et al., 2022; Lieberman—Betz, Brown, Vail, et al., 2023; Miolo & DeVore, 2016; Paul et al., 2020; Strunk et al., 2019; Wilson et al., 2017).

For Families

Additionally, while most collaborative models struggle to incorporate the family as a team member (D'Amour et al., 2005), IPE builds pre–service SLPs' capacity for family–centered care (Pawłowska et al., 2020; Suleman et al., 2013). For example, Suleman et al. (2013) found that after a brief, action–based IPE intervention, pre–service SLPs used less profession–specific terminology (e.g., articulation, graphemes, intelligible) when asked to describe their professional role to a parent on a reflective survey. This suggests that IPE promotes communicative efficacy across all EI team members, including the family.

In short, both quantitative and qualitative findings illustrate that IPE has the potential to equip pre–service SLPs with requisite knowledge and skills for high–quality, team–based EI service provision.

Potential Limitations of Non-Practice-Based Interprofessional Education

However, few studies in the last decade have examined IPE activities specifically dedicated to pre—service EI providers. The extant literature varies widely in IPE format (e.g., online course, workshop, skills laboratory), which limits comparison depth. More problematic, however, are the limitations to ecological validity accompanying each IPE format given that EI providers must deliver services in the natural environment (IDEA, 2004).

Consider that Myers et al. (2014) assessed perceptions of collaborative practice from discussion posts at the beginning and end of online graduate coursework for pre–service SLPs (n = 11), OTs (n = 6), and PTs (n = 2) training for EI or school–based practice. This online, exchange–based format could have contributed to surface–level conversation about interprofessional roles as evidenced by the PSPs maintaining stereotypical perceptions of their own and other disciplines across the semester (Myers et al., 2014). By contrast, Lieberman–Betz et al. (2023) reported that SLPs (n = 7), EI/ECSEs (n = 6), OTs (n = 16), and PTs (n = 7) improved understanding of professional roles across a weekend–long training institute. However, PSPs expressed confusion about when to consult other professionals in EI and how to address real–world barriers to collaboration (Lieberman–Betz et al., 2023). This suggests that while exchange– and action–based IPE experiences may add value to the curriculum, they potentially offer a less ideal platform for transformational learning.

These studies highlight the pitfall of incongruence between educational and clinical practice context (Thistlethwaite, 2013) when examining the impact of IPE on pre–service EI providers. Practice–based IPE may address this by offering potentially more authentic learning experiences (Thistlethwaite, 2013).

Potential Benefits of Practice-Based Interprofessional Education

Practice—based IPE programs are reported less frequently in the literature relative to other IPE formats because they are costly to develop and maintain (Barr & Brewer, 2012). As a case in point, only five small—scale investigations report on practice—based IPE experiences for pre—service SLPs in educational settings (Miolo & DeVore, 2016; Pfeiffer et al., 2022; Weiss et al., 2020; Wilson et al., 2017, 2019). Of these, three involve a public—school (Weiss et al., 2020; Wilson et al., 2017, 2019) and just two involve an EI/ECSE practice setting (Miolo & DeVore, 2016; Pfeiffer et al., 2022).

Collaboration at the Pre-Service Level

Both Miolo and DeVore (2016) and Pfeiffer et al. (2022) conducted field experiences in a preschool with first-year SLP graduate students, but the PSP dyads and nature of collaboration differed. In Miolo and DeVore's (2016) study, pre–service SLPs (n=29) and ECSEs (n=56) provided consultative services with ECPs across a 16–week semester, whereas pre–service SLPs (n=6) and OTs (n=3) in Pfeiffer et al.'s (2022) study co–planned and delivered an emergent writing intervention directly to young children for 5 weeks. Additionally, while both studies reported improvements to perceived collaborative competence across all IPEC (2023) domains, Miolo and DeVore (2016) relied on post–only qualitative data from reflective surveys. By contrast, Pfeiffer et al. (2022) employed a quantitative pre–posttest design. Together, Miolo and DeVore (2016) and Pfeiffer et al. (2022) confirmed that practice–based IPE enhances collaborative competence in pre–service SLPs, but neither study explored the IPS process or involved teaming directly with in–service ECPs to provide EI services.

Collaboration Across Service Levels

Research on collaboration in the early childcare setting specifically between preservice SLPs and in–service ECPs is limited and lacks the pre–service SLP perspective (e.g., Brebner et al., 2017). However, focus groups with ECPs indicate that collaborating with preservice SLPs generates more knowledge sharing opportunities compared to when children receive individual therapy sessions outside the classroom (Attrill et al., 2018). Additionally, modeling of strategies to support communication skills by pre–service SLPs enabled ECPs to incorporate these strategies into daily routines even after the program ended (Brebner et al., 2017). This suggests that practice–based IPE experiences between in–service ECPs and pre–service SLPs may be a conduit for specialist knowledge to enter EI practice settings and potentially improve outcomes for children with disabilities.

Barriers to Collaboration in the Early Childcare Setting

Despite the known benefits of collaboration in EI, there are many challenges to collaboration between EI providers and ECPs in practice.

Environmental Barriers

Both ECPs and EI providers report a strong willingness to collaborate but are often faced with suboptimal environmental conditions in which to do so (Hong & Shaffer, 2014; Mohay & Reid, 2006; Weglarz–Ward et al., 2020b, 2020a). Limited time and space and difficulty coordinating schedules are commonly cited by early childhood personnel as barriers to collaboration (Anderson, 2013; Hong & Shaffer, 2014; Sheppard & Moran, 2021; Weglarz–Ward et al., 2020b). Systemic issues such as limited institutional funding, low wages, and inadequate staffing further reduce collaborative capacity in the early childcare setting (Hong & Shaffer, 2014; Sheppard & Moran, 2021; Weglarz–Ward et al., 2020b). IPE programs examined through the perspective of EI providers in this setting would support understanding of these barriers to inform potential stopgap measures at the personnel level.

Attitudinal Barriers

However, barriers to collaboration between ECPs and EI providers are not entirely administrative. Even under optimal organizational conditions, poor interprofessional communication thwarts efforts to collaborate in the early childcare setting (e.g., Hong & Shaffer, 2014). For instance, misunderstanding of professional roles among ECPs and EI providers results in difficulty initiating and maintaining collaborative relationships (Weglarz–Ward et al., 2020b). The use of discipline specific jargon also limits information sharing across disciplines (Anderson, 2013).

ECPs also report difficulty collaborating with EI providers due to limited exposure to children with disabilities and poor understanding of the EI/ECSE process (Hong & Shaffer, 2014; Sheppard & Moran, 2021; Weglarz–Ward et al., 2020b). These barriers to

collaboration ultimately serve as antagonists to implementing evidence—based inclusive strategies to support children with disabilities in the early childcare setting (Barton & Smith, 2015; Montoya et al., 2022). Given the efficacy of IPE in mediating attitudinal barriers in the EI context (e.g., Lieberman–Betz et al., 2023), IPE experiences between ECPs and SLPs may address this concern.

Methodologies Used to Evaluate Interprofessional Education Programs

To better understand the IPE landscape, it is important to note the ways in which IPE programs are evaluated as well as the limitations of this research. There is no standard protocol for IPE program evaluation; rather, each program must select the most appropriate method based on the purpose, learning outcomes, and unique needs of the institution (O'Leary et al., 2023).

Heterogeneity

IPE evaluation research for pre–service SLPs frequently involves collecting data from multiple sources and employing a variety of quantitative (Pfeiffer et al., 2022; Wilson et al., 2019), qualitative (Miolo & DeVore, 2016; Myers et al., 2014), and mixed methods research designs (Curro et al., 2022; Lieberman–Betz, Brown, Wiegand, et al., 2023; Pawłowska et al., 2020; Strunk et al., 2019; Weiss et al., 2020; Wilson et al., 2017).

Attitudinal scales are common, and while efficient, the variety of available instrumentation prevents pooling of data that would allow for more rigorous investigation of IPE efficacy (Almoghirah et al., 2021; Berger–Estilita et al., 2020; Blue et al., 2015). A recent systematic review identified 22 different attitudinal scales used to evaluate IPE programs for healthcare students (Berger–Estilita et al., 2023). IPE programs for pre–service SLPs also employ a variety of attitudinal scales (see **Table 4**).

Table 4Scales Used to Evaluate Interprofessional Education Programs

Author	Scale
Curro et al. (2022)	Interprofessional Education School–Based Survey
Leiberman-Betz et al. (2023)	Interprofessional Socialization and Valuing Scale
Paul et al. (2020)	Interdisciplinary Education Perception Scale
Pfeiffer et al. (2022)	Interprofessional Collaborative Competency Attainment Survey
Strunk et al. (2019)	Attitudes Toward Health Care Teams Scale

Note. Each study included pre–service SLPs.

Quality

Critical appraisals of these instruments suggest that they have suboptimal psychometric properties (Almoghirah et al., 2021; Oates & Davidson, 2015; Thannhauser et al., 2010). Additionally, these scales are vulnerable to ceiling effects especially when administered to PSPs early in their graduate education (Karasinski & Schmedding–Bartley, 2018; McFadyen et al., 2010; Pollard & Miers, 2008).

Moreover, small sample sizes are common in IPE evaluation research, and most studies focus on short–term outcomes (Reeves et al., 2016). These outcomes consist of student reactions to their IPE program, acquisition of clinical knowledge and skills, and attitude changes toward IPE (Almoghirah et al., 2021; Reeves et al., 2016). Long–term IPE outcomes, behavioral changes, and the effects of IPE on patient care are less frequently reported (Almoghirah et al., 2021; Reeves et al., 2016). Relatedly, observation of the IPS process is severely lacking in the IPE literature (Dolan & Nowell, 2023).

Summary

Despite the need to collaborate effectively in EI, IPE programs dedicated to collaboration in EI are rare. Of the programs that exist, few are practice—based and even fewer involve collaboration between pre—service and in—service professionals. Although IPE programs consistently provide opportunities for pre—service SLPs to develop collaborative competence, the mechanisms underlying this learning process are not well—understood. Therefore, investigation of the IPS process during practice—based IPE in the early childcare setting could yield valuable information regarding optimal delivery of this IPE format to promote willingness to collaborate.

Chapter 4. Methods

This pilot study used a constructivist approach and employed a within–subjects, intrinsic case study research design to evaluate a practice–based IPE program (Creswell, 2013, pp. 98–99). Approval was obtained from the Radford University Institutional Review Board in the summer of 2023 (Reference #: 2023–074).

Participants

The participants were pre–service SLPs (n = 3) in their first semester of a 2–year master's program. All participants were Caucasian females between the ages of 22 and 25. Each participant held a bachelor's degree with no prior graduate–level education. One participant reported having formal interprofessional experience in a related field. The other two participants endorsed having only informal interprofessional experience prior to entry into the master's program.

Program Description

This pilot IPE program took place through a partnership between the Department of Communication Sciences and Disorders at Radford University and a licensed child day center. Three SLP–ECP pairs were given the opportunity to provide collaborative developmental services to children between the ages of 15 and 30 months in 2–hour sessions twice weekly for 12 weeks. Each pre–service SLP was assigned two children for which they conducted initial evaluations and wrote plans of care to address communication, speech, and language development. The goals of the program were for pre–service SLPs to gain experience with providing push–in developmental services, embedding communication opportunities within daily routines, and fostering collaborative relationships with personnel in the natural environment to promote meaningful participation of the children in their care. Opportunities for collaboration included modeling of communication–enhancing strategies, joint planning of therapeutic activities, and coaching ECPs on how to integrate SLP services

into everyday routines. The thesis committee chair served as the clinical educator for the program but did not participate in data collection to align with recommended procedures for gathering student feedback of practice—based IPE programs (O'Leary et al., 2023, p. 153).

Measures

Quantitative Measures

Interprofessional Socialization and Valuing Scale–21. The Interprofessional Socialization and Valuing Scale–21 (ISVS–21) is a self–report tool designed to measure transformative learning through IPS during IPE (King et al., 2016). Respondents indicate on a scale of 1 (not at all) to 7 (to a very great extent) the degree to which they hold or display a belief, attitude, or behavior described across 21 statements (King et al., 2016). For example, "I have gained an enhanced perception of myself as someone who engages in interprofessional practice" (King et al., 2016). Summed ratings across all 21 items yield the Total Score, with higher scores indicating increased IPS salience (King et al., 2016).

Interprofessional Collaborative Competency Attainment Survey. The

Interprofessional Collaborative Competency Attainment Survey (ICCAS) is a 20-item survey that measures perceived change in collaborative competence (MacDonald et al., 2010;

Schmitz et al., 2017). The ICCAS is a retrospective pre-post measure (Schmitz et al., 2017).

This means that respondents rate skills twice, once as they recall their skill level prior to the IPE experience and a second time as they perceive their present skill level (Schmitz et al., 2017). A scale of 1 (poor) to 5 (excellent) is used to rate each statement (Schmitz et al., 2017). For example, "Identify and describe my contributions to the team" (Schmitz et al., 2017). Question 21 asks respondents to indicate their overall perceived change in collaborative ability from "much better now" to "much worse now" (Schmitz et al., 2017).

Qualitative Measures

A focus group was conducted by the graduate student researcher to supplement the quantitative scales. This semi-structured interview consisted of five prepared questions (e.g., "How did you feel about working with [the ECPs] at the beginning and how did that change across the semester?") with follow-up questions as needed to further assess the participants'

attitudes and beliefs regarding the IPS process, elucidate perceptions of collaborative skills, and identify facilitators and barriers to the program as appropriate during the conversation.

Procedures

Participant Selection

Participants were recruited via email from the graduate student researcher. Selection criteria included being a first-year SLP graduate student assigned to complete an interprofessional practicum as part of their clinical training. Note, however, that practicum placement decisions were made by the director of the Radford University Speech–Language–Hearing Clinic independently from the research effort.

Data Collection

Data collection occurred across two sessions at the beginning and end of the fall 2023 semester. In session one, written consent was obtained from the participants prior to administration of a demographics questionnaire and the ISVS–21. To accommodate a weeklong holiday break, session two occurred approximately 2 weeks following the last collaborative session. The ICCAS was administered, the ISVS–21 was readministered, and the focus group was conducted during session two. The focus group was recorded, and this recording was uploaded to Microsoft OneDrive and transcribed automatically in Microsoft Word. A clean verbatim transcript was generated through light editing to remove fillers, repetitions, false starts, self–corrections, and interjections, and to correct grammatical errors without changes to meaning.

Data Analysis

ISVS–21 and ICCAS scores were analyzed descriptively due to lack of statistical power on account of the small sample size. An inductive thematic analysis was performed on the focus group transcript (Braun & Clarke, 2006). The transcript was coded by the graduate student researcher in consultation with the thesis committee chair. Initial codes were

generated at the semantic level and refined through an iterative process to ensure that final themes were represented across the data set (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Codes were managed in version 4.3.2 of R Statistical Software (R Core Team, 2023) using version 0.1.0 of the QCoder package (Duckles et al., 2023).

Chapter 5. Results

Quantitative

Interprofessional Socialization and Valuing Scale-21

All participants descriptively demonstrated Total Score gains on the ISVS–21, possibly indicating greater salience of beliefs, attitudes, and behaviours associated with IPS following the IPE program (see **Table 5**).

Table 5ISVS-21 Total Scores

Participant	Pre	Post	Change
1	106	117	+11
2	112	126	+14
3	89	94	+5

However, median scores for Participants 1 and 3 remained constant pre–post at 6 (to a great extent) and 4 (to a moderate extent), respectively. Only Participant 2 increased from a median score of 5 (to a fairly great extent) to 6 (to a great extent) pre–post (see **Table 6**).

Table 6ISVS-21 Median Scores

Participant	Pre	Post	Change
1	6	6	0
2	5	6	+1
3	4	4	0

When pooled (see **Table 7**), nine items were observed to increase in median score, six items remained constant, and six items decreased pre–post. Among the items noted to increase was the statement of "I have gained an enhanced perception of myself as someone who engages in interprofessional practice," which increased from a median rating of 3 (*to a small extent*) to 6 (*to a great extent*). The statement of "I feel comfortable being the leader in a team situation" maintained a median rating of 4 (*to a moderate extent*) pre–post. The statement of "I am able to share and exchange ideas in a team discussion" decreased from a median of 6 (*to a great extent*) to 4 (*to a moderate extent*) pre–post. Although most ISVS–21 items increased or stayed the same in median rating pre–post, this suggests notable variation in responses by item.

Table 7

ISVS-21 Median Scores by Item

Item	Pre	Post	Change
1	4	5	+1
2	4	6	+2
3	4	6	+2
4	6	4	-2
5	3	6	+3
6	4	4	0
7	5	5	0
8	5	6	+1
9	6	6	0
10	5	6	+1
11	4	6	+2
12	4	5	+1
13	6	5	-1
14	6	5	-1
15	5	5	0
16	7	7	0
17	7	5	-2
18	6	5	-1
19	6	6	0
20	3	6	+3
21	7	6	-1

Interprofessional Collaborative Competency Attainment Survey

Each participant descriptively demonstrated gains in median ratings on the ICCAS, indicating improvement in self–reported collaborative competence across all assessed domains (see **Table 8**). Participants endorsed that their overall collaborative ability was "much better now" in response to question 21.

Table 8ICCAS Median Scores

Participant	Pre	Post	Change
1	2	3	+1
2	2	4	+2
3	2	3	+1

Qualitative

A total of 59 codes were initially generated from the focus group transcript at the semantic level. A total of 44 final codes were identified at both the semantic (e.g., "mentioned time") and latent (e.g., "fear of being judged") levels. However, most codes were semantic in nature. There were four main themes that emerged (see **Table 9**).

Table 9Description of Main Themes

Main Theme	Description	
Increasing preparedness for collaboration in early intervention	Discussion of skills gained at least in part through interactions with early care providers.	
Collaborating to benefit the child	Discussion of how collaborative practices may have supported positive developmental outcomes.	
Collaboration as multifactorial	Discussion of the facilitators and barriers to collaboration.	
Suggestions for program improvement	Discussion of possible solutions to barriers to collaboration.	

Theme 1: Increasing Preparedness for Collaboration in Early Intervention

The participants reported growth in a range of skills obtained at least in part through interactions with the ECPs. In general, the participants felt more prepared for developmental service provision in the natural environment for the children in their care.

Subtheme 1A: Collaborative Skillset. The participants reported improvement in their ability to explain their professional role, adapt to a dynamic clinical environment, and navigate working with different personalities. These skills developed over time and coincided with self—reported growth in confidence (e.g., Participant 2 stated, "I realized maybe I do know what I'm talking about!") and comfortability (e.g., Participant 3 stated, "I definitely felt more comfortable asking for assistance.") in the professional relationship. Moreover, Participant 2 expressed how their enhanced collaborative skillset may benefit them in future practice settings: "I've definitely learned how to advocate for what we even are ... now I can feel a little bit less intimidated next time I'm collaborating and know how to explain my role better."

Subtheme 1B: Clinical Skillset. Perceived improvements to clinical skills included the ability to incorporate therapy into daily routines, elicit spoken language (e.g., Participant 3 stated, "I learned ... how to take every opportunity to elicit any language possible."), and select developmentally appropriate therapy materials (e.g., Participant 3 stated, "I learned ... what works with my age group versus not."). Additionally, all participants agreed with Participant 1 who endorsed learning "techniques to deescalate if a child was upset" from the ECPs, indicating growth in their ability to respond effectively to young children when dysregulated.

Theme 2: Collaborating to Benefit the Child

Beyond professional skill growth, the participants discussed instances of how collaborative practice may have supported positive developmental outcomes for their clients.

The participants reported that the ECPs were more knowledgeable of the children in their care and thus provided valuable insight about their functioning in the natural environment. This supported the initial evaluation process when the ECPs communicated developmental concerns about potential clients to the participants (e.g., Participant 3 stated, "[The ECP] would say 'I've noticed this, you may want to look into this.'"). The participants also obtained information regarding the child's likes and dislikes from the ECPs, which promoted more efficient lesson planning. Moreover, the ECPs supported carry over of SLP activities into daily routines, including increasing participation from typically developing peers during group activities.

Theme 3: Collaboration as Multifactorial

The participants reported several facilitators and barriers to collaboration with the ECPs. In general, attitudinal barriers appeared to lessen throughout the IPE program while environmental barriers were constant. Facilitating factors were more challenging to identify from the transcript as the participants discussed barriers to collaboration more frequently.

Subtheme 3A: Attitudinal Factors. The participants were wary of crossing professional boundaries (e.g., Participant 3 stated, "I felt like [the ECP] would think I was invading their space.") especially at the beginning of the IPE program. This appeared to be driven by initial uncertainty of how to collaborate (e.g., Participant 1 stated, "At the beginning ... I was not sure how to interact with [the ECP]. We both were a little 'standoffish.'") coupled with resistance to role sharing (e.g., Participant 2 stated, "My biggest challenge was I had to take on a teacher role a lot of the times.") and professional misconceptions (e.g., Participant 2 stated, "[The ECP] was like ... '[I] just thought that you just did speech,' and I'm like ... 'It's also language.'"). However, Participant 1 felt that the ECP in their classroom "was really collaborative from the beginning," suggesting variation in the degree to which each dyad was open to collaborating at baseline. Specifically, Participant 1 reported receiving "feedback on how to make the lesson plans run more smoothly" while Participant 3 reported that the ECP in their classroom "didn't really give [them] feedback." Taken together, communicative efficacy varied amongst the SLP–ECP dyads but improved as the participants enhanced their collaborative skillset.

Subtheme 3B: Environmental Factors. The participants discussed how a lack of dedicated meeting space and time (e.g., Participant 3 stated, "I don't think the [ECPs] have time unless it was time taken after school to meet with us.") posed a constant barrier to collaborative efforts. Other barriers such as ECP turnover and limited classroom structure were experienced more by Participant 2 than by Participants 1 or 3. Participant 2 commented on how the difference in nap schedule between classrooms reduced opportunities to provide collaborative services: "[We] were supposed to have the same schedules ... but my class would go down for a nap almost 30 minutes before her class ... you can't really give speech when they're asleep, you know?" Participant 2 ultimately worked with one of the other SLP–ECP dyads during this time, but this inconsistency reduced depth of the collaborative relationship. In contrast, Participants 1 and 3 experienced consistent classroom structure without naps interfering with intervention sessions. Thus, consistency in the clinical environment likely facilitated collaboration.

Theme 4: Suggestions for Program Improvement

Based on the barriers experienced by the participants, they offered some suggestions as to how the program could be improved. Namely, they suggested increasing the time and space allotted for collaborative activities. To promote knowledge of therapy targets among the ECPs, the participants suggested providing the ECPs with a copy of the care plan with the family's consent. The participants also suggested syncing classroom schedules so that all children would take a nap at the same time. To facilitate rapport building with the ECPs, the participants suggested implementing icebreaker activities at the beginning of the program.

Chapter 6. Discussion

Given that high–quality EI services depend on high–quality teaming practices, it is essential that EI providers be equipped with the knowledge and skills for collaborative practice (Lieberman–Betz et al., 2019). Yet, the apparent theory–practice gap in EI suggests that SLPs may be unprepared to collaborate (Caesar, 2022). IPE programs purport to facilitate collaborative practice; however, the mechanisms underlying the application of collaborative knowledge and skills learned during IPE in practice are unclear (Reeves et al., 2016). The emerging concept of IPS seeks to explain how IPE programs promote a cognitive shift in PSPs orienting them towards collaborative practice (Dolan & Nowell, 2023). At present, little is known about the IPS process, especially during practice–based IPE in the EI context across service levels. This investigation addressed these gaps through a formative and process–focused IPE program evaluation.

Interprofessional Socialization

The primary research question was: To what extent does a practice—based IPE program support the IPS process in pre—service SLPs? All participants exhibited increases in Total Scores on the ISVS—21, but only Participant 2 increased in median score pre—post. This suggests that the degree to which transformational learning (i.e., dual identity formation) occurred across the IPE program was limited.

Idealistic Expectations

One reason for this could be that PSPs tend to have idealistic expectations of their IPE programs at baseline, which contributes to ceiling effects on the scales commonly employed to evaluate these programs (e.g., Pollard & Miers, 2008). Recent evidence suggests that measures of interprofessional identity are also vulnerable to this phenomenon (Tong et al., 2020b). However, PSPs' expectations become more realistic as they progress through their IPE program (Pollard & Miers, 2008). Accordingly, the items on the ISVS–21 that received a

median rating of a 6 or 7 noticeably overlapped with the items that either decreased or stayed the same pre–post. By contrast, all of the related constructs on the ICCAS—delivered only in Session 2 as a retrospective pre–post measure—increased in median rating. Moreover, item 20 on the ISVS–21 ("I have gained more realistic expectations of other professionals on a team.") was one of only two items to increase from a median rating of 3 to 6 pre–post (King et al., 2016). Although cautious interpretation is warranted, these observations are consistent with the possibility that participants were initially overconfident in their ratings at baseline but gained more realistic perspectives regarding the IPS process throughout the IPE program.

Unmet Antecedents

According to the IPS framework, expansion of the professional identity during IPE relies, in part, on a safe learning environment created by satisfying the conditions for positive intergroup contact (Khalili et al., 2013; Pettigrew, 1998). Thus, another reason that the IPS process was limited for the participants in this study is that the IPE program itself only partially met these conditions. The condition of authority support appears to be met on account of the program being sanctioned by Radford University. The participants in this study did not report difficulty collaborating specifically due to competition with the ECPs even though the participants experienced other barriers to collaboration. Therefore, the condition of intergroup cooperation also appears to be met.

However, the participants arguably never achieved a perception of equal status. As novice clinicians, the participants were hesitant to coach the ECPs. The participants reported similar feelings of hesitation from the ECPs who may have felt that they were being assessed by the SLPs. Beyond the tension generated by collaborating across service levels, the participants experienced possible threats to their professional identities due to misconceptions from the ECPs. Ultimately, these factors may have impeded the process of breaking down

barriers between professions, resulting in a suboptimal environment for interprofessional role learning.

Finally, the participants struggled to work towards common goals. Although the participants reported engaging in collaborative practices with the ECPs (e.g., informal communication regarding the children's developmental needs), this was often inconsistent and varied in nature among the SLP–ECP dyads. Initial uncertainty of how to collaborate, resistance to role sharing, and a persistent lack of time and space to collaborate were identified by the participants as negative contributors to the overall quality and quantity of collaborative teaming. These challenges to the IPS process coincide with barriers reported by ECPs to collaborating with EI providers in the early childcare setting (Weglarz–Ward et al., 2020b).

Collaborative Competence

The secondary research question was: What is the perceived impact of a practice—based IPE program on collaborative competence in pre—service SLPs? Both quantitative from the ICCAS and qualitative findings from the focus group provide evidence that the participants perceived improvements to their collaborative competence. These results coincide with previous findings that practice—based IPE delivered in EI practice settings enhances collaborative competence in pre—service SLPs (Miolo & DeVore, 2016; Pfeiffer et al., 2022).

This suggests that the IPE program provided an opportunity for participants to begin to develop their collaborative skillset, particularly in the roles and responsibilities (RR) and communication (C) domains (IPEC, 2023). For instance, sub–competency RR3 ("Incorporate complementary expertise to meet health needs including the determinants of health.") was addressed as the participants reported leveraging the ECPs' expertise in an attempt to support positive developmental outcomes for the children in their care (IPEC, 2023, p. 17). Moreover,

the participants reported improvements in their ability to explain their role and navigate challenges related to working with different personalities. These reflect sub—competencies C1 ("Communicate one's roles and responsibilities clearly.") and C7 ("Examine one's position, power, role, unique experience, expertise, and culture towards improving communication and managing conflicts."), respectively (IPEC, 2023, p. 18).

This is significant because building collaborative competence is essential for clinical practice in EI (e.g., Lieberman–Betz et al., 2019). For SLPs specifically, collaborative knowledge and skills are ultimately needed to achieve clinical certification (CFCC, 2018, Standard V–B), provide high-quality services (ASHA, 2016b), and even uphold the code of ethics (ASHA, 2016a, Principle IV).

Limitations and Future Research

A significant limitation of this investigation is the small sample size. This restricts generalization of results, especially considering that the IPE program was unique to Radford University, and the nature of collaboration varied among the SLP–ECP dyads. Additionally, since the goal of IPE is to facilitate a "collaborative practice–ready workforce" (WHO, 2010, p. 10), another limitation is that outcomes were only assessed shortly after the IPE program. Follow–up is needed to determine the potential long–term impact of the program by, for example, interviewing the participants once they become working professionals. Moreover, evaluation of the IPS process was limited as the ECPs were not included in the focus group. While the participants reported attitudinal barriers to the IPS process involving the ECPs, interviews with the ECPs themselves would be needed to confirm assumptions from the SLPs regarding crossing professional boundaries. Triangulating these data with classroom observations would further support understanding of the IPS process as a more objective means by which to assess interactions within and between the SLP–ECP dyads.

Conclusions

Pre–service SLPs who collaborated with ECPs in this study demonstrated evidence of beginning the IPS process during a practice–based IPE program in the early childcare setting. Both attitudinal and environmental factors may have restricted the quantity and quality of collaborative interactions, thus limiting the IPS process and dual identity formation. Despite this, participants reported improved perceived collaborative competence after the IPE program. Therefore, this program offered an opportunity for participants to build their collaborative skillset. More research is ultimately needed to better understand the IPS process in pre–service SLPs during practice–based IPE in the EI context.

References

- 8VAC20–780, Standards for Licensed Child Day Centers (2021).

 https://law.lis.virginia.gov/admincode/title8/agency20/chapter780/
- 12VAC35–225, Requirements for Virginia Early Intervention System (2016). https://law.lis.virginia.gov/admincode/title12/agency35/chapter225/
- Almoghirah, H., Nazar, H., & Illing, J. (2021). Assessment tools in pre–licensure interprofessional education: A systematic review, quality appraisal and narrative synthesis. *Medical Education*, 55(7), 795–807. https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.14453
- American Speech–Language–Hearing Association. (n.d.). *Early intervention*. https://www.asha.org/practice-portal/professional-issues/early-intervention/
- American Speech–Language–Hearing Association. (2016a). *Code of ethics [Ethics]*. www.asha.org/policy/
- American Speech–Language–Hearing Association. (2016b). *Scope of practice in speech–language pathology [Scope of practice]*. www.asha.org/policy/
- Anderson, E. M. (2013). Preparing the next generation of early childhood teachers: The emerging role of interprofessional education and collaboration in teacher education. *Journal of Early Childhood Teacher Education*, *34*(1), 23–35.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10901027.2013.758535
- Attrill, S., Brebner, C., & Marsh, C. (2018). Learning from students: Facilitators' learning in interprofessional placements. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, *32*(5), 603–612. https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2018.1470497
- Barr, H. (1996). Means in interprofessional education: Towards a typology. *Education for Health*, 9(3), 341–352.
- Barr, H., & Brewer, M. (2012). Interprofessional practice—based education. In J. Higgs, R. Barnett, S. Billett, M. Hutchings, & F. Trede (Eds.), *Practice—based education:*

- *Perspectives and strategies* (pp. 199–212). SensePublishers. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-6209-128-3 15
- Barr, H., Koppel, I., Reeves, S., Hammick, M., & Freeth, D. (2005). *Effective interprofessional education: Argument, assumption and evidence*. Blackwell.

 http://www.blackwellpublishing.com/book.asp?ref=9781405116541&site=1
- Barton, E. E., & Smith, B. J. (2015). Advancing high–quality preschool inclusion: A discussion and recommendations for the field. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, *35*(2), 69–78. https://doi.org/10.1177/0271121415583048
- Berger–Estilita, J., Fuchs, A., Hahn, M., Chiang, H., & Greif, R. (2020). Attitudes towards interprofessional education in the medical curriculum: A systematic review of the literature. *BMC Medical Education*, 20(1), 254. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-020-02176-4
- Blue, A. V., Chesluk, B. J., Conforti, L. N., & Holmboe, E. S. (2015). Assessment and evaluation in interprofessional education: Exploring the field. *Journal of Allied Health*, 44(2), 73–82.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, C. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research* in *Psychology*, 3(2), 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Brebner, C., Attrill, S., Marsh, C., & Coles, L. (2017). Facilitating children's speech, language and communication development: An exploration of an embedded, service—based professional development program. *Child Language Teaching and Therapy*, 33(3), 223–240. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265659017702205
- Brewer, M. L., & Barr, H. (2016). Interprofessional education and practice guide no. 8:

 Team–based interprofessional practice placements. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*,

 30(6), 747–753. https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2016.1220930

- Bricker, D. D., Felimban, H. S., Lin, F. Y., Stegenga, S. M., & Storie, S. O. (2022). A proposed framework for enhancing collaboration in early intervention/early childhood special education. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 41(4), 240–252. https://doi.org/10.1177/0271121419890683
- Bruder, M. B. (2010). Early childhood intervention: A promise to children and families for their future. *Exceptional Children*, 76(3), 339–355. https://doi.org/10.1177/001440291007600306
- Caesar, L. G. (2022). Speech–language pathologists' perceptions of pre–service knowledge and skill training in early intervention. *Communication Disorders Quarterly*, *43*(2), 75–83. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525740120924801
- Collins English Dictionary. (n.d.). Caregiver. In *Collinsdictionary.com dictionary*. https://www.collinsdictionary.com/us/dictionary/english/caregiver
- Coufal, K. L., & Woods, J. J. (2018). Interprofessional collaborative practice in early intervention. *Pediatric Clinics*, 65(1), 143–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcl.2017.08.027
- Council for Clinical Certification in Audiology and Speech–Language Pathology of the

 American Speech–Language–Hearing Association. (2018). 2020 standards for the

 certificate of clinical competence in speech–language pathology.

 https://www.asha.org/certification/2020-slp-certification-standards/
- Council on Academic Accreditation in Audiology and Speech–Language Pathology. (2023).

 Standards for accreditation of graduate education programs in audiology and
 speech–language pathology (2017). https://caa.asha.org/siteassets/files/accreditationstandards-for-graduate-programs.pdf
- Crais, E. R., Boone, H. A., Harrison, M., Freund, P., Downing, K., & West, T. (2004).

 Interdisciplinary personnel preparation: Graduates' use of targeted practices. *Infants*

- & Young Children: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Early Childhood Intervention, 17(1), 82–92. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001163-200401000-00010
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches (3rd ed). SAGE Publications.
- Curro, K., Shooman, L., & Foo, S. (2022). The use of interprofessional education (IPE) to address collaboration for individualized education plans (IEPs): A retrospective study of occupational therapy, speech–language pathology, and special education students' perceptions. *Teaching and Learning in Communication Sciences & Disorders*, 6(2). https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1349682
- D'Amour, D., Ferrada–Videla, M., San Martin Rodriguez, L., & Beaulieu, M.-D. (2005). The conceptual basis for interprofessional collaboration: Core concepts and theoretical frameworks. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, *19*(1), 116–131. https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820500082529
- Division of Early Childhood. (2014). *DEC recommended practices in early intervention/early childhood special education*. https://www.dec-sped.org/dec-recommended-practices
- Dobbs–Oates, J., & Wachter Morris, C. (2016). The case for interprofessional education in teacher education and beyond. *Journal of Education for Teaching*, 42(1), 50–65. https://doi.org/10.1080/02607476.2015.1131363
- Dolan, S., & Nowell, L. (2023). Interprofessional socialization: A concept analysis. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2023.2253845
- Duckles, B., Sholler, D., Draper, J., & Laderas, T. (2023). *qcoder: Lightweight qualitative coding* (R package version 0.1.0) [R]. https://github.com/ropenscilabs/qcoder
- Gherardi, S. (2000). Practice—based theorizing on learning and knowing in organizations.

 Organization, 7(2), 211–223. https://doi.org/10.1177/135050840072001

- Goldberg, L. R. (2015). The importance of interprofessional education for students in communication sciences and disorders. *Communication Disorders Quarterly*, *36*(2), 121–125. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525740114544701
- Heilmann, J., & Bertone, A. (2021). Identification of gaps in training, research, and school—based practice: A survey of school—based speech—language pathologists. *Language*, *Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, *52*(4), 1061–1079. https://doi.org/10.1044/2021_LSHSS-20-00151
- Hong, S. B., & Shaffer, L. S. (2014). Inter–professional collaboration: Early childhood educators and medical therapist working within a collaboration. *Journal of Education and Training Studies*, *3*(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.11114/jets.v3i1.623
- Horn, E. M., & Jones, H. (2004). Collaboration and teaming in early intervention and early childhood special education. In E. M. Horn, M. Ostrosky, & H. Jones (Eds.), *Young exceptional children monograph series no. 6: Interdisciplinary teams* (pp. 11–20). Division for Early Childhood of the Council for Exceptional Children. http://www.worldcat.org/oclc/55880118
- Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, Pub. L. No. 108–446, 20 (2004). https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/c/
- Infant & Toddler Connection of Virginia. (2021). *Infant & Toddler Connection of Virginia—*Practice Manual. Virginia Department of Behavioral Health and Developmental

 Services. https://www.itcva.online/itcva-resource-library
- Interprofessional Education Collaborative. (2016). *Core competencies for interprofessional collaborative practice: 2016 update*. Interprofessional Education Collaborative. https://ipec.memberclicks.net/assets/2016-Update.pdf
- Karasinski, C., & Schmedding-Bartley, J. L. (2018). Graduate speech–language pathology students' initial self–perceptions of skills critical for interprofessional practice.

- Journal of Interprofessional Care, 32(3), 382–385. https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2017.1325860
- Khalili, H., & Orchard, C. (2020). The effects of an IPS-based IPE program on interprofessional socialization and dual identity development. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2019.1709427
- Khalili, H., Orchard, C., Laschinger, H. K. S., & Farah, R. (2013). An interprofessional socialization framework for developing an interprofessional identity among health professions students. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 27(6), 448–453. https://doi.org/10.3109/13561820.2013.804042
- Lieberman–Betz, R. G., Brown, J. A., Vail, C. O., & Wiegand, S. D. (2023). An interdisciplinary case–based approach to preservice interprofessional training. In *Handbook of research on interdisciplinary preparation for equitable special education* (pp. 237–253). IGI Global. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-6684-6438-0.ch012
- Lieberman-Betz, R. G., Brown, J. A., Wiegand, S. D., Vail, C. O., Fiss, A. L., & Carpenter,
 L. J. (2023). Building collaborative capacity in early intervention preservice providers
 through interprofessional education. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in* Schools, 54(2), 504–517. https://doi.org/10.1044/2022_LSHSS-22-00110
- Lieberman-Betz, R. G., Wiegand, S. D., Brown, J. A., & Vail, C. O. (2019). Collaboration in early intervention: Teaming to improve outcomes for young children with disabilities.

 In C. Guillen, A. Schnitz, & P. J. Winton (Eds.), *Teaming and collaboration: Building*

- and sustaining partnerships (DEC Recommended Practices Monograph Series No. 6) (pp. 1–12). Division for Early Childhood.
- Ludwig, D. A., & Kerins, M. R. (2019). Interprofessional education: Application of interprofessional education collaborative core competencies to school settings. *Perspectives of the ASHA Special Interest Groups*, 4(2), 269–274. https://doi.org/10.1044/2018_PERS-SIG2-2018-0009
- MacDonald, C. J., Archibald, D., Trumpower, D., Casimiro, L., Cragg, B., & Jelley, W. (2010). Designing and operationalizing a toolkit of bilingual interprofessional education assessment instruments. *Journal of Research in Interprofessional Practice* and Education, 1(3). https://doi.org/10.22230/jripe.2010v1n3a36
- McFadyen, A. K., Webster, V. S., Maclaren, W. M., & O'neill, M. A. (2010).

 Interprofessional attitudes and perceptions: Results from a longitudinal controlled trial of pre-registration health and social care students in Scotland. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 24(5), 549–564. https://doi.org/10.3109/13561820903520369
- McMillan, D., Walsh, G., & Doherty, A. (2020). Getting a better picture of the 'whole' child:

 A case for interprofessional learning in early childhood staff training. *PRACTICE*,

 2(2), 145–160. https://doi.org/10.1080/25783858.2020.1831735
- Merriam-Webster. (n.d.). Interprofessional. In *Merriam-Webster.com dictionary*. https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/interprofessional
- Miolo, G., & DeVore, S. (2016). Speech language pathology and education students engage in interprofessional collaborative practice to support children with special needs in preschool settings. *Journal of Interprofessional Education & Practice*, 4(1), 81–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xjep.2016.06.004

- Mohay, H., & Reid, E. (2006). The inclusion of children with a disability in child care: The influence of experience, training and attitudes of childcare staff. *Australasian Journal of Early Childhood*, *31*(1), 35–42. https://doi.org/10.1177/183693910603100106
- Montoya, E., Austin, L. J. E., Powell, A., Kim, Y., Petig, A. C., & Muruvi, W. (2022). *Early educator compensation: Findings from the 2020 california early care and education workforce study*. Center for the Study of Child Care Employment, University of California, Berkeley. https://cscce.berkeley.edu/publications/ report/early-educator-compensation/
- Moran, K. K. (2021). Perspectives on the child care search process in low-income, urban neighbourhoods in the United States. *Early Child Development and Care*, *191*(5), 655–669. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2019.1641703
- Myers, C. T., Howell, D. M., & Wittman, P. (2014). Inter-Professional role perception and communication of preservice students and therapists in schools and early intervention.

 *Journal of Occupational Therapy, Schools, & Early Intervention, 7(1), 70–85.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/19411243.2014.898494
- Oates, M., & Davidson, M. (2015). A critical appraisal of instruments to measure outcomes of interprofessional education. *Medical Education*, 49(4), 386–398. https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.12681
- O'Leary, N., Salmon, N., O'Donnell, M., Murphy, S., & Mannion, J. (2023).

 Interprofessional education and practice guide: Profiling readiness for practice-based IPE. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, *37*(1), 150–155.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2022.2038551
- Olszewski, A., Diamond, L., & Bingham, A. (2019). Collaborations between speech-language pathology and early childhood special education graduate programs.

- Teaching and Learning in Communication Sciences & Disorders, 3(1). https://doi.org/10.30707/TLCSD3.1Olszewski
- Paul, R., Simmons, E., Bowers, D., Carl-Stannard, P., Marotto, J., Rainville, K., Sauvigne-Kirsch, J., & Massucci, E. (2020). Case-Based, brief, intensive interprofessional education experience for school practitioners. *Journal of Allied Health*, 49(1), 43E-50E.
- Pawłowska, M., Del Rossi, L., Kientz, M., McGinnis, P., & Padden-Denmead, M. (2020).
 Immersing students in family-centered interprofessional collaborative practice.
 Journal of Interprofessional Care, 34(1), 50–58.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2019.1608165
- Pettigrew, T. F. (1998). Intergroup contact theory. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 49, 65–85.
- Pfeiffer, D., Pavelko, S., Allen-Bronaugh, D., Dudding, C. C., & Timler, G. (2022). A practice-based interprofessional emergent writing intervention: Impacts on graduate students and preschoolers. *Teaching and Learning in Communication Sciences & Disorders*, 6(1). https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1349454
- Pfeiffer, D., Pavelko, S. L., Hahs-Vaughn, D. L., & Dudding, C. C. (2019). A national survey of speech-language pathologists' engagement in interprofessional collaborative practice in schools: Identifying predictive factors and barriers to implementation.

 Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 50(4), 639–655.

 https://doi.org/10.1044/2019_LSHSS-18-0100
- Pollard, K. C., & Miers, M. E. (2008). From students to professionals: Results of a longitudinal study of attitudes to pre-qualifying collaborative learning and working in health and social care in the United Kingdom. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 22(4), 399–416. https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820802190483

- Prelock, P. A., & Deppe, J. (2015). Speech–language pathology: Preparing early interventionists. *Infants & Young Children*, 28(2), 150–164. https://doi.org/10.1097/IYC.0000000000000035
- R Core Team. (2023). *R: A language and environment for statistical computing* (R version 4.3.2) [R]. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. https://www.R-project.org/
- Reeves, S., Fletcher, S., Barr, H., Birch, I., Boet, S., Davies, N., McFadyen, A., Rivera, J., & Kitto, S. (2016). A BEME systematic review of the effects of interprofessional education: BEME Guide No. 39. *Medical Teacher*, *38*(7), 656–668. https://doi.org/10.3109/0142159X.2016.1173663
- Rossi, P. H., Lipsey, M. W., & Henry, G. T. (2019). *Evaluation: A systematic approach*. SAGE Publications.
- Sargeant, J. (2009). Theories to aid understanding and implementation of interprofessional education. *The Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Professions*, 29(3), 178–184. https://doi.org/10.1002/chp.20033
- Schmitz, C. C., Radosevich, D. M., Jardine, P., MacDonald, C. J., Trumpower, D., & Archibald, D. (2017). The Interprofessional Collaborative Competency Attainment Survey (ICCAS): A replication validation study. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 31(1), 28–34. https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2016.1233096
- Sheppard, M. E., & Moran, K. K. (2021). The role of early care providers in early intervention and early childhood special education systems. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *50*(6), 891–901. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-021-01225-x
- Strunk, J., Kipps-Vaughan, D., Pavelko, S., Allen-Bronaugh, D., Myers, K., Gilligan, T., Kielty, M., Richardson, E., & Tacy, J. (2019). Interprofessional education for preservice school-based professionals: Faculty and student collaboration. *Teaching and*

- Learning in Communication Sciences & Disorders, 3(1). https://doi.org/10.30707/TLCSD3.1Strunk
- Suleman, S., McFarlane, L.–A., Pollock, K., Schneider, P., & Leroy, C. (2013). Do students talk the talk? A study of the use of professional vocabularies among student speech—language pathologists and teachers through an interprofessional education experience.

 Canadian Journal of Speech—Language Pathology & Audiology, 37(2), 146–154.

 https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A348786948/AONE?u=anon~e3bb596f&sid=googleS cholar&xid=d2b08d44
- Suleman, S., McFarlane, L.–A., Pollock, K., Schneider, P., Leroy, C., & Skoczylas, M. (2014). Collaboration: More than "working together" an exploratory study to determine effect of interprofessional education on awareness and application of models of specialized service delivery by student speech–language pathologists and teachers. *Canadian Journal of Speech–Language Pathology & Audiology*, *37*(4), 298–307.
 - https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A372885282/HRCA?u=anon~74d2b83e&sid=googleS cholar&xid=9cce66e0
- Tajfel, H., & Turner, J. C. (1986). The social identity theory of inter–group behavior. In S. Worchel & L. W. Austin (Eds.), *Psychology of intergroup relations* (pp. 7–19).
- Thannhauser, J., Russell–Mayhew, S., & Scott, C. (2010). Measures of interprofessional education and collaboration. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 24(4), 336–349. https://doi.org/10.3109/13561820903442903
- Thistlethwaite, J. E. (2013). Practice—based learning across and between the health professions: A conceptual exploration of definitions and diversity and their impact on interprofessional education. *International Journal of Practice—Based Learning in Health and Social Care*, *1*(1), 15–28.

- Thistlethwaite, & Moran, M. (2010). Learning outcomes for interprofessional education (IPE): Literature review and synthesis. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 24(5), 503–513. https://doi.org/10.3109/13561820.2010.483366
- Tong, R., Brewer, M., Flavell, H., & Roberts, L. (2020a). Professional and interprofessional identities: A scoping review. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2020.1713063
- Tong, R., Roberts, L., Brewer, M., & Flavell, H. (2020b). Quality of contact counts: The development of interprofessional identity in first year students. *Nurse Education Today*, 86(104328). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2019.104328
- United States Department of Education. (2022). 44th annual report to Congress on the implementation of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act.
- Virginia Department of Behavioral Health and Developmental Services. (2021). Report on Virginia's part c early intervention system (Item 322 H.2.).
- Wallace, S., Farquharson, K., Berdik, M., Foote, L., Manspeaker, S., & Hankemeier, D. (2022). Speech–Language pathologists' perspectives of interprofessional collaboration. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 36, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2022.2039106
- Weglarz–Ward, J. M., Santos, R. M., & Hayslip, L. A. (2020a). How professionals collaborate to support infants and toddlers with disabilities in child care. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 48(5), 643–655. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-020-01029-5
- Weglarz–Ward, J. M., Santos, R. M., & Hayslip, L. A. (2020b). What early intervention looks like in child care settings: Stories from providers. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 42(3), 244–258. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053815119886110

- Weiss, D., Cook, B., & Eren, R. (2020). Transdisciplinary approach practicum for speech—language pathology and special education graduate students. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 50(10), 3661–3678. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-020-04413-7
- Wilson, L., McNeill, B. C., & Gillon, G. T. (2019). Understanding the effectiveness of student speech–language pathologists and student teachers co–working during inter–professional school placements. *Child Language Teaching and Therapy*, *35*(2), 125–143. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265659019842203
- Wilson, L., McNeill, B., & Gillon, G. T. (2017). Inter–Professional education of prospective speech–language therapists and primary school teachers through shared professional practice placements. *International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders*, 52(4), 426–439. https://doi.org/10.1111/1460-6984.12281
- World Health Organization. (2010). Framework for action on interprofessional education & collaborative practice (WHO/HRH/HPN/10.3).

 https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/framework-for-action-on-interprofessional-education-collaborative-practice